RECEIVED

May 01 2023

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM JASPER COUNTY COURT OF COMMON PLEAS
The Honorable H. Steven DeBerry, IV, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2022-001266
Trial Court Case No. 2021-CP-27-00028

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT
CITY OF HARDEEVILLE

City of Hardeeville.....Appellant,

v.

Jasper County, South Carolina, Jasper County Treasurer,
and Jasper County Auditor.....Respondents,

AND

Jasper County, South Carolina.....Cross Co-Plaintiff,

Verna Garvin, in her official capacity
as Jasper County TreasurerCross Co-Plaintiff,

and

Monica Wilson, in her official capacity

INTRODUCTION

This case is about which political subdivision of the State controls the governmental revenue generated by certain real property (“Real Property”) now situate in the corporate limits of Appellant City of Hardeeville. The Real Property at issue has also allegedly been designated as multi-county industrial or business park property by Jasper County (“Multi-County Park”). The case appears to present at least one matter of first impression: whether a municipality’s annexation of property subsequent to the date of the creation of Multi-County Park impacts the application of State law regulating taxation within multi-county parks.

This case also raises questions about whether the Multi-County Park was properly created and whether the consent and long-standing course of dealings of Respondent Jasper County (“Jasper”), Jasper County Treasurer (“Treasurer”), and Jasper County Auditor (“Auditor”) (collectively, “Jasper Respondents”), and other entities permits Appellant to continue imposing either an *ad valorem* tax or an equivalent fee-in-lieu of tax against the Real Property, as has happened for fourteen years prior to this dispute, or whether Appellant is bound by the terms of an agreement to which Appellant is not a party and is obligated to provide municipal services without receiving the applicable tax revenue.

State law is clear that all property is presumed taxable and that the terms of a tax exemption must be strictly construed against the claimed exemption. Rather, the Circuit Court misapplied our Supreme Court’s holding in *Horry County School District v. Horry County*, 346 S.C. 621, 552 S.E.2d 737 (2001), a case involving a school district’s dispute with a county and municipality acting in lockstep, by extending and enlarging the *Horry County* holding to a dispute between statutory entities with distinctly different rights under State law: a county and a municipality. The Circuit Court’s decision to assign this broad, liberal construction to the limited holding in *Horry County* is a misapplication of precedent and reversible error of law. Thus, the Circuit Court’s

holdings that the agreement creating the Multi-County Park was valid, that the non-party Appellant was bound by that agreement, that the Real Property is exempt from taxation, and that all governmental revenue derived from the Real Property must be allocated pursuant to that agreement must be reversed.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Whether The Circuit Court Incorrectly Concluded The Park Agreement Was Valid?
- II. Whether The Circuit Court Incorrectly Concluded Appellant's Consent To The Park Agreement Was Not Required?
- III. Whether The Circuit Court Incorrectly Concluded All Real Property In The Park Is Exempt From *Ad valorem* Taxation?
- IV. Whether The Circuit Court Incorrectly Concluded All Park Revenues Must Be Allocated And Distributed In Accordance With The Park Agreement?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On February 1, 2021, Appellant filed a Complaint against Jasper Respondents, seeking a declaratory judgment pursuant to the Uniform Declaratory Judgments Act, South Carolina Code Annotated section 15-53-10, et seq., and Rule 57, SCRPC, to declare the rights, duties, and responsibilities of Appellant and Jasper Respondents, and for injunctive relief prohibiting Jasper Respondents from violating State law and/or their respective duties and responsibilities thereunder all as relates to the Real Property. (*Jasper Order*, p. 2) (R. 00006). On April 16, 2021, Appellant filed a Motion to Amend Complaint. (*Jasper Order*, p. 2) (R. 00006). On June 21, 2021, the Honorable Bentley D. Price entered the parties' Consent Order to Amend Complaint. (*Jasper Order*, p. 2) (R. 00006). Appellant's Amended Complaint sought injunctive relief and a declaratory judgment and requested that the Court determine and declare the rights and legal relationships of

the parties as it relates to real property annexed by Appellant that is located within the Multi-County Park. (*Jasper Order*, pp. 2-3) (R. 00006-7).

On July 21, 2021, Jasper Respondents filed their Answer to Appellant's Amended Complaint and Amended Cross Complaint ("Jasper Answer and Cross Complaint"), in which Jasper Respondents cross complained against Beaufort County ("Beaufort") and Nickel Plate Road, LLC ("Nickel Plate"). (*Jasper Order*, p. 3; *Jasper Answer and Cross Complaint*, pp. 12-13) (R. 00007; R. 00188-189). By the parties' consent, Appellant filed an Amended Complaint to which Jasper Respondents filed an Amended Answer and an Amended Cross Complaint, and Beaufort and Nickel Plate each filed an Amended Answer. (*Amended Answer of Beaufort; Amended Answer of Nickel Plate*). Neither Beaufort nor Nickel Plate have asserted any claims against Appellant or Jasper Respondents. (*Amended Answer of Beaufort*, p. 2; *Amended Answer of Nickel Plate*, p. 6) (R. 00205; R. 00219).

In the Answer and Cross Complaint, Jasper Respondents requested a declaratory judgment and asserted a cause of action for unjust enrichment against Appellant for tax years 2011 through 2019 in the amount of \$463,226.13. (*Jasper Answer and Cross Complaint*, p. 19, p. 21) (R. 00195, 197). Jasper Respondents' request for a declaratory judgment similarly asked the Court to determine and declare (i) the rights of the parties with regard to the revenue arising from Park property, including Park property annexed by Respondent; (ii) whether Park property is exempt from *ad valorem* taxes; (iii) whether the *ad valorem* taxes on Park property are converted to fee-in-lieu of taxes as a matter of law; and (iv) whether the revenues derived from Park property must be distributed in the manner provided in the underlying park agreement between Jasper and Beaufort County. (*Jasper Order*, p. 3) (R. 00007). On July 27, 2021, Jasper Respondents filed a

Motion for Partial Summary Judgment (“Jasper’s Motion”) for judgment as a matter of law on these issues. (*Jasper Order*, p. 3) (R. 00007).

Appellant served its First Set of Interrogatories and First Set of Requests for Production on Jasper Respondents on August 9, 2021. (*Jasper Order*, p. 3) (R. 00007). In response, Jasper Respondents filed a Motion for Protective Order on August 24, 2021, requesting an order staying the time for Jasper Respondents’ answers and objections to Appellant’s discovery requests until at least thirty days after the Court entered a decision on Jasper Respondents’ Motion for Partial Summary Judgment. (*Jasper Order*, p. 3) (R. 00007).

On October 15, 2021, Appellant filed its Motion for Summary Judgment (“Hardeeville’s Motion”), a Response to Jasper’s Motion for Partial Summary Judgment (“Hardeeville’s Response”), and the Affidavit of Michael Czymbor. (*Jasper Order*, p. 3) (R. 00007). In Hardeeville’s Motion, Appellant argued that there are no genuine issues of material fact, that this dispute involves basic statutory interpretation and contract law, and that the Court could find as a matter of law that the underlying park agreement was invalid and did not bind Appellant. (*Jasper Order*, p. 3) (R. 00007). In Hardeeville’s Response, Appellant also argued that there is a genuine issue of material fact as to whether the underlying park agreement is valid, and until Jasper Respondents responded to Appellant’s discovery requests, granting summary judgment to Jasper Respondents would be premature. (*Jasper Order*, pp. 3-4) (R. 00007-8).

On October 25, 2021, Jasper Respondents filed a Memorandum of Law in Support of its Motion for Partial Summary Judgment and Reply to Appellant’s Response in Opposition. (*Jasper Order*, p. 4) (R. 00008). Also on October 25, 2021, Jasper Respondents filed a Memorandum of Law in Opposition to Appellant’s Motion for Summary Judgment and the Affidavit of Records Custodian Wanda Hendrix Simmons. (*Jasper Order*, p. 4) (R. 00008).

On October 27, 2021, the Court held a hearing on Jasper Respondents' and Appellant's cross-motions for summary judgment. (*Jasper Order*, p. 4) (R. 00008). On November 11, 2021, Nickel Plate, with the permission of the Court, filed a Memorandum in Opposition to Appellant's Motion for Summary Judgment. (*Jasper Order*, p. 4) (R. 00008).

On June 2, 2022, counsel for Jasper Respondents submitted a letter to The Honorable H. Steven DeBerry, IV ("Jasper Letter") enclosing a copy of a May 5, 2022 letter issued by South Carolina Attorney General's Office ("SC AG Letter"). (*Jasper Letter*, pp. 1-6) (R. 00634-641). Jasper Letter argued that the SC AG Letter supported Jasper Respondents' positions and would be "helpful in making [the Court's] decision." (*Jasper Letter*, p. 2) (R. 00638). On June 3, 2022, counsel for Appellants submitted a responsive letter to the Honorable H. Steven DeBerry, IV, arguing that the SC AG Letter was not drafted to address the dispute before the Circuit Court, as the SC AG Letter, like *Horry County*, concerned a school district and to the extent that it touched on any issue at dispute, the SC AG Letter, instead, supported Appellant's position. (*Hardeeville Letter*, p. 1) (R. 00642).

On July 13, 2022, the Honorable H. Steven DeBerry, IV, entered an Order denying Appellant's Motion for Summary Judgment, Granting Jasper Respondents' Motion for Partial Summary Judgment, and Ordering Jasper Respondents to its answers and objections to Hardeeville's First Set of Interrogatories and First Set of Requests for Production within 30 days of the date of the Order ("Jasper Order") (*Jasper Order*, p. 24) (R. 00028).

On July 25, 2022, Appellant timely filed its Motion to Reconsider. (*Hardeeville Motion to Reconsider*, pp. 1-9) (R. 00521-530). On August 4, 2022, Jasper Respondents filed Jasper County's Response to City of Hardeeville's Motion to Reconsider. (*Jasper Response to Motion to Reconsider*, pp. 1-7) (R. 00531-537). On August 10, 2022, Appellant filed City of Hardeeville's

Reply to Jasper County’s Response to City of Hardeeville’s Motion to Reconsider. (*Hardeeville Reply*, pp. 1-5) (R. 00538-542).

On September 2, 2022, the Honorable H. Steven DeBerry, IV, entered an Order denying Appellant’s Motion to Reconsider. (*Denial Order*, p. 1) (R. 00030). On September 13, 2022, pursuant to South Carolina Appellate Court Rule 203(b)(1), Appellant timely served its Notice of Appeal. (*Hardeeville Notice of Appeal*, pp. 1-36).

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS¹

On February 7, 2000, Jasper enacted an ordinance in which Jasper authorized the execution of an agreement to create the Multi-County Park (“Park Ordinance”). Section I of the Park Ordinance purports to incorporate the Park Agreement by reference into the Park Ordinance: “The form of the joint industrial park agreement (the ‘Agreement’) is attached hereto and all the terms of the Agreement are hereby incorporated herein.”² The Agreement for Development of Joint County Industrial and Business Park (“Park Agreement”), which was approved by the Park Ordinance, was last executed on April 10, 2000. The Park Agreement’s has a stated effective date of December 31, 1999, which is 38 days before the execution of the Park Agreement was authorized by the Park Ordinance. Neither the collection nor distribution of Appellant’s revenue is contemplated or referenced in the Park Agreement.

Appellant is not a signatory or otherwise a party to the Park Agreement or to any contract related to the Multi-County Park.

¹ For purposes of this Court’s review, the factual statements are based on the parties’ allegations, rather than facts as determined through discovery.

² The Park Agreement does not specifically incorporate the Park Ordinance by reference. Rather, Section 7 of the Park Agreement provides that: “Revenues received by Jasper County shall be distributed by Jasper County to the political subdivisions of Jasper County (hereinafter referred to as the ‘Jasper Participating Taxing Entities’) in accordance with an ordinance adopted by Jasper County.” No specific reference to the Park Ordinance is contained in Section 7 or elsewhere in the Park Agreement.

On October 5, 2006, Appellant annexed the Real Property based on a 100% petition from the Real Property's owners. Jasper does not own any portion of the Real Property.

Since 2006, Appellant and/or Jasper Respondents have been directly involved in the collection of Appellant's levy and distribution of 100% of the collected revenue to Appellant. From 2006 until November 2020, neither Jasper Respondents nor Beaufort or Nickle Plate suggested to Appellant that Appellant was not entitled to levy and collect 100% of Appellant's revenue from the Real Property.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“When reviewing the grant of summary judgment, the appellate court applies the same standard applied by the [circuit] court pursuant to Rule 56(c), SCRPC.” *Garrard v. Charleston Cty. Sch. Dist.* 429 S.C. 170, 189, 838 S.E.2d 698, 708 (Ct. App. 2019), (alteration in original) (quoting *Fleming v. Rose*, 350 S.C. 488, 493, 567 S.E.2d 857, 860 (2002)). Under Rule 56(c), SCRPC, “[t]he judgment sought shall be rendered forthwith if the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law.” *Bauknight v. Buchanan*, No. 2022-UP-346, 2022 S.C. App. Unpub. LEXIS 435, at *6 (Ct. App. Aug. 24, 2022).

“Summary judgment is appropriate [only] when the pleadings, depositions, affidavits, and discovery on file show there is no genuine issue as to any material fact such that [the moving party] must prevail as a matter of law.” *Turner v. Milliman*, 392 S.C. 116, 122, 708 S.E.2d 766, 769 (2011) citing *Fleming v. Rose*, 350 S.C. 488, 493, 567 S.E.2d 857, 860 (2002) (citation omitted in original); Rule 56(c), SCRPC. The “standard of review in evaluating a motion for summary judgment is to liberally construe the record in favor of [Hardeeville] and give [it] the benefit of all favorable inferences that might reasonably be drawn therefrom.” *Companion Prop. & Cas. Ins.*

Co. v. Airborne Exp. , Inc., 369 S.C., 388, 390-91, 631 S.E.2d 915, 916 (Ct. App. 2006) (quoting *Estes v. Roper Temp. Servs., Inc.*, 304 S.C. 120, 121, 403 S.E.2d 157, 158 (Ct. App. 1991)). “Summary judgment should be denied where [the non-movant has] submit[ted] a mere scintilla of evidence.” *Zurich Amer. Ins. Co. v. Tolbert*, 387 S.C. 280, 283, 692 S.E.2d 523, 524 (2010) citing *Hancock v. Mid–South Mgmt. Co., Inc.*, 381 S.C. 326, 673 S.E.2d 801 (2009).

ARGUMENTS

I. THE COURT ERRED IN FINDING THAT THE PARK AGREEMENT IS VALID AND SATISFIES SECTION 4-1-170 (A)(3) AND SECTION 13(D).

The Circuit Court erroneously held that the Park Agreement satisfied the requirements of S.C. Const. art. VIII, § 13(D) and the three requirements of South Carolina Code Annotated section 4-1-170 (A). (*Jasper Order*, pp. 11-12) (R. 00015-16).

In relevant part, Section 13(D) provides that “Counties may jointly develop an industrial or business park . . . [and the] written instrument . . . is binding on all participating counties.” Section 13(D) neither explicitly provides nor even suggests that any governmental entity (other than “participating counties” and, by application of *Horry County*, a school district) is bound by the participating counties’ park agreement. *See also* S.C. Code Ann. § 4-1-170 (A) (“By written agreement, counties may develop jointly an industrial or business park [and t]he written agreement entered into by the participating counties”). This is not only basic statutory interpretation but also simple contract law. As a general rule, a contract is binding only on the parties to that contract. *See, e.g., Goode v. St. Stephens United Methodist Church*, 329 S.C. 433, 494 S.E.2d 827 (Ct. App. 1997); *Hammond Constr. Co. v. Banks Constr. Co.*, 312 S.C. 422, 440 S.E.2d 890 (Ct. App. 1994) (holding a party not in privity with contracting parties has no right to enforce a contract). Appellant is not a party to the Park Agreement. (*Jasper Order*, pp. 15-16) (R. 00019-20).

Additionally, Section 13(D) must be read in its factual context. Each parcel in this State is, necessarily, located in a county *and* a school district. By contrast, absent annexation, or the creation of a new municipality (both of which require consent of all or a substantial portion of impacted landowners), a parcel of real property is not automatically located in an incorporated municipality. Thus, a constitutional provision specifically addressing counties, but not municipalities, is consistent with the factual reality in which all real property in this State exists.

Thus, absent some other basis in statute or judicial precedent, Appellant cannot be bound by the Park Agreement to which it is not a party. Recognizing that municipalities have distinctly different characteristics from school districts, the General Assembly expressly addressed the unique interest of municipalities by creating section 4-1-170(C).

The mere existence of section 4-1-170(C) illustrates the legal error of the Circuit Court's sole-county-control construction of Section 13(D). That is, the Circuit Court's Order holds that only counties can control the creation a multi-county park. (*Jasper Order*, pp. 16, 24) (R. 00020, 28). This holding is legal error because under such interpretation, section 4-1-170(C), which expressly requires a municipality's consent (in any circumstance), would necessarily be an unconstitutional enactment. As our Supreme Court has instructed, a court must presume that when the General Assembly enacts a statutory provision, that provision is constitutional. *See generally Davis*, 322 S.C.at 73, 470 S.E.2d at 94.

A court cannot construe a statute without regard to its plain and ordinary meaning and may not resort to subtle or forced construction in an attempt to limit or expand a statute's scope. *Berkebile v. Outen*, 311 S.C. 50, 426 S.E.2d 760 (1993). A statute must receive such construction as will make all of its parts harmonize with each other and render them consistent with its general scope and object. *Davis v. County of Greenville*, 322 S.C. 73, 470 S.E.2d 94 (1996).

The primary rule of statutory construction is to ascertain and give effect to the intent of the General Assembly. *S.C. Pub. Int. Found. v. Calhoun Cnty. Council*, 432 S.C. 492, 854 S.E.2d 836 (2021); *Hodges v. Rainey*, 341 S.C. 79, 85, 533 S.E.2d 578, 581 (2000). The first question to be asked when interpreting a statute is whether the statute’s meaning is clear on its face. *Kennedy v. S.C. Ret. Sys.*, 345 S.C. 339, 549 S.E.2d 243 (2001). If a statute’s language is plain, unambiguous, and conveys a clear and definite meaning, there is no need to employ the rules of statutory interpretation, and this Court must apply the statute according to its literal meaning. *Miller v. Aiken*, 364 S.C. 303, 613 S.E.2d 364 (2005). Under the plain meaning rule, a court has no right to search for or impose another meaning or resort to subtle or forced construction to change the scope of a clear and unambiguous statute. *Town of Mt. Pleasant v. Roberts*, 393 S.C. 332, 342, 713 S.E.2d 278, 283 (2011); *State v. Sweat*, 386 S.C. 339, 350, 688 S.E.2d 569, 575 (2010); *Cain v. Nationwide Prop. & Cas. Ins. Co.*, 378 S.C. 25, 29-30, 661 S.E.2d 349, 351-52 (2008).

Section 13(D) and section 4-1-170 must be read together to reach a harmonious construction. *See, e.g., Centex Int’l, Inc. v. S.C. Dep’t of Revenue*, 406 S.C. 132, 139, 750 S.E.2d 65, 69 (2013) (“[T]he statute must be read as a whole and sections which are a part of the same general statutory law must be construed together and each one given effect.” (quoting *S.C. State Ports Auth. v. Jasper County*, 368 S.C. 388, 398, 629 S.E.2d 624, 629 (2006))). Section 13(D) provides that the creation of a multi-county park is solely by agreement of the member counties. That agreement must be in writing. *Id.* The agreement is binding on the parties. *Id.* Similarly, section 4-1-170 permits a multi-county park to be “develop[ed]” “[b]y written agreement.” There is *no* other mechanism for creation of a multi-county park under either Section 13(D) or section 4-1-170. Thus, the written agreement is the sole controlling mechanism for the multi-county park and all matters that flow from creating a multi-county park, and a court is not permitted to “blue

pencil” or otherwise judicially amend a park agreement. *See generally Poynter Invs.*, 387 S.C. at 583, 694 S.E.2d at 15.

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