THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM JASPER COUNTY COURT OF COMMON PLEAS  
The Honorable H. Steven DeBerry, IV, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2022-001266  
Common Pleas Case No. 2021-CP-27-00028

City of Hardeeville.....Appellant,

v.

Jasper County, South Carolina, Jasper County Treasurer,  
and Jasper County Auditor.....Respondents,

AND

Jasper County, South Carolina.....Cross Co-Plaintiff,

Verna Garvin, in her official capacity  
as Jasper County Treasurer .....Cross Co-Plaintiff,

and

Monica Wilson, in her official capacity  
as Jasper County Auditor.....Cross Co-Plaintiff,

v.

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

### ARGUMENTS

#### I. ALL PARK PROPERTY IS EXEMPT FROM ALL *AD VALOREM* TAXES, AND PROPERTY OWNERS MUST PAY A FEE-IN-LIEU OF *AD VALOREM* TAXES WHICH MUST BE DISTRIBUTED PURSUANT TO THE PARK AGREEMENT.

##### A. All Park Property is Exempt from *Ad Valorem* Taxes, and Owners of Park Property Must Pay a Fee-In-Lieu of Taxes.

All park property, including the Annexed Property, is exempt from all *ad valorem* taxes as a matter of law. Instead of *ad valorem* taxes, all owners of park property must pay a fee-in-lieu of taxes. Article VIII, § 13(D) states as follows:

Counties may jointly develop an industrial or business park with other counties within the geographical boundaries of one or more of the member counties. The area comprising the parks and all property having a situs therein is **exempt from all ad valorem taxation. The owners or lessees of any property situated in the park shall pay an amount equivalent to the property taxes or other-in-lieu-of payments that would have been due and payable except for the exemption herein provided.**

S.C. CONST. art VIII, § 13(D) (emphasis added); *see Horry Cty.*, 346 S.C. at 630, 552 S.E.2d at 741 (“Article VIII, § 13(D) and § 4-1-170 exempt property in MCBPs from *ad valorem* taxation[.]”); *see also* S.C. Code Ann. § 4-1-175. There is no exception to this tax exemption or the rule that owners of multi-county park property must, instead, make fee-in-lieu of tax payments.

There is no dispute the Annexed Property is located within the park’s geographical boundaries. *See* Compl. Ex. B p. 7 & Ex. F (R. 00076 & R. 00150–65); *see also* Compl. ¶¶ 38–50

(R. 00059–61). Yet, Hardeeville argues the Annexed Property is neither exempt from *ad valorem* taxes nor are the fee-in-lieu-of revenues generated from the Annexed Property subject to the Park Agreement’s required revenue distribution scheme. *See* Hardeeville’s Br. pp. 23–25. However, the Constitution does not say all park property is exempt from all *ad valorem* taxes, *except taxes levied by a municipality*. It simply states that all park property is exempt from all *ad valorem* taxes and owners of park property must make fee-in-lieu of payments. S.C. CONST. art. VIII, § 13(D).<sup>7</sup> Therefore, because the Annexed Property is within the geographic boundaries of a multi-county park, the Annexed Property is exempt from all *ad valorem* taxation, and the owner of the Annexed Property must make a fee-in-lieu of tax payment.

Hardeeville also argues the General Assembly must have intended for municipalities to levy and collect *ad valorem* taxes on park property subsequently annexed by the municipality or Section 4-1-170 cannot be read harmoniously with Section 5-3-150. *See* Hardeeville Br. pp. 22–25. Fortunately, the Court need not search for the conflict Hardeeville claims exists between the trial court’s interpretation of Section 4-1-170(C) (i.e., the plain meaning) and the plain meaning of Section 5-3-150. There is no actual conflict.<sup>8</sup>

Notably, a municipality’s power to levy and collect *ad valorem* taxes is not found anywhere within Section 5-3-150. That power, and corresponding limitations, is located at S.C. Code Ann.

---

<sup>7</sup> *See also Horry Cty.*, 346 S.C. at 628 n.2, 552 S.E.2d at 741 n.2 (“We reject the district’s argument that the ‘amount equivalent to property taxes’ constitutionally required of MCBPs is somehow not a fee in lieu of taxes, especially since the fee in lieu statutes specifically reference § 4-1-170. The fact that special rules apply to fees owed on property in MCBPs does not mean they are not ‘fees in lieu of taxes.’”).

<sup>8</sup> Section 5-3-150 speaks only to one alternative method of annexation available to municipalities. Although the statute contemplates the possibility of a municipality’s annexation of park property (along with other classifications of property), it does not provide, either expressly or by implication, that the tax-exempt status of park property is affected by that annexation. Rather, the statute provides that if park property is annexed by a municipality, the assessed valuation of the property is not affected. *See* S.C. Code Ann. §5-3-150(5). However, a property’s assessed valuation is not unique to the determination of *ad valorem* taxes levied on the property as Hardeeville suggests, because, for example, the assessed valuation is also used to determine park revenues (i.e., the fee-in-lieu of taxes) generated from park property and other matters, like general obligation bond capacity.

§§ 5-21-110–140. A municipality has the power to levy taxes on all real property within the municipality’s limits, **except for real property exempt from taxation**. S.C. Code Ann. § 5-21-110 (“All municipal taxes levied by cities . . . in this State shall be levied on all property, real and personal, **not exempt from taxation**[.]”) (emphasis added).<sup>9</sup>

Thus, contrary to Hardeeville’s arguments, South Carolina law does limit Hardeeville’s ability to levy and collect *ad valorem* taxes on the Annexed Property. The Annexed Property is constitutionally exempt from all *ad valorem* taxes, S.C. CONST. art. VIII, § 13(D), and Hardeeville is prohibited from levying and collecting *ad valorem* taxes on tax-exempt property. S.C. Code Ann. § 5-21-110. Therefore, the trial court’s ruling that Hardeeville may not levy and collect *ad valorem* taxes on the Annexed Property, and the owner of the Annexed Property must, instead, make fee-in-lieu of tax payments must be affirmed.

**B. All Fee-In-Lieu of *Ad Valorem* Tax Payments Must Be Distributed Pursuant to the Park Agreement Between the Counties.**

The Park Agreement controls how the Park Revenues *must* be distributed. Section 4-1-170(A)(3) states as follows:

The written agreement entered into by the participating counties must include provisions which: . . . (3) specify the manner in which revenue must be distributed to each of the taxing entities within each of the participating counties.

S.C. Code Ann. § 4-1-170(A)(3) (emphasis added); *see also Horry Cty.*, 346 S.C. at 629, 552 S.E.2d at 741 (“[F]or a project located in an industrial development park as defined in § 4-1-170, distribution of the fee in lieu of taxes on the project *must be made in the manner provided for by the agreement* establishing the industrial development park.”) (quoting S.C. Code Ann. § 4-29-67(L)(2)) (emphasis added). State law does not provide an exception to this rule.

---

<sup>9</sup> *See also* Op. S.C. Att’y Gen., 1983 WL 181830, at \*1 (April 5, 1983) (interpreting Section 5-21-110 and concluding “[a]ll property having a tax situs within a municipality is taxable by the municipality *unless exempted from such taxation*”) (emphasis added).

Despite the statutory mandate that all Park Revenues be distributed in the manner set forth in the Park Agreement, Hardeeville argues the statutorily granted discretion to counties over the allocation of park revenues as determined in the governing park agreement extends only to a taxing entity's park property if that taxing entity is not a municipality, such as a school district. *See* Hardeeville's Br. pp. 13–14 & 24–25. There is no support in South Carolina law for this argument.

The *Horry County* Court described the extent of counties' discretion to allocate and distribute park revenues pursuant to the underlying park agreement, and in doing so, made no distinction for municipal property.<sup>10</sup> Rather, the Court repeatedly framed the issue as the *county's* discretion over the allocation of park revenues to *all other taxing entities*. *See* 346 S.C. at 626, 552 S.E.2d at 739 (“The district argues the trial court erred in construing § 4-1-170 . . . as **granting the county discretion over the allocation of revenue** from MCBPs. We disagree); *id.* at 630, 552 S.E.2d at 741 (“[Section] 4-1-170(2) specifically **allocates that revenue to the county, not to any other taxing entity.**”) (emphasis added).

Moreover, a recently issued May 5, 2022 opinion from the South Carolina Attorney General's Office further explains in detail the extent of a county's discretion (by way of a valid park agreement) over the allocation of a park's revenues for all taxing entities' park property. Analyzing Sections 4-1-170 and 4-29-67 and the Supreme Court's decision in *Horry County*, the Attorney General concluded that counties are under no obligation to either distribute park revenues in the same proportion as it would if the property were taxable or employ a specific methodology

---

<sup>10</sup> Hardeeville has previously argued that because the *Horry County* Court defined “County” to also include the City of Myrtle Beach, this means the Court's holdings have no bearing on a county's authority with respect to municipality revenues derived from multi-county park property. *See* Hardeeville's Mot. Recons. pp. 3–4 ¶ 2 (R. 00509–10). However, simply because the Court discussed the county's authority over park revenues with respect to only one specific taxing entity (i.e., a school district) it does not follow that the Court's reasoning would not also apply to another taxing entity, such as a municipality. The *Horry County* Court made no such distinction, and such a distinction is not found anywhere else in South Carolina law.

in doing so. *Id.* at \*4.<sup>11</sup> And in response to the final question (whether there was any statutory remedy for a “**local government entity**” who believed that the distribution of park revenues was inequitable), the Attorney General concluded “the law does not provide for remedy for school districts **or other taxing entities** who believe they received an inequitable allocation of fee in lieu revenue in the agreement creating a [park].” *Id.* at \*1 (emphasis added).

Neither the statutory scheme nor the *Horry County* decision nor the Attorney General’s opinion make any distinction between a municipality’s property and other taxing entities’ property with respect to a county’s discretion over the allocation and distribution of park revenues by way of a valid park agreement. Therefore, Park Revenues, including those generated from the Annexed Property, must be distributed pursuant to the terms of the Park Agreement. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 4-1-170(A)(3); *Horry Cty.*, 346 S.C. at 629, 552 S.E.2d at 741.

### C. Future Distributions May Be Corrected.

Hardeeville argues because the Jasper Parties inadvertently collected and remitted to Hardeeville 100% of Hardeeville’s share of fee-in-lieu of tax revenues (if the property were not subject to the Park Agreement) attributable to the Annexed Property in the past, that means Hardeeville should be allowed to continue receiving the same amount in perpetuity. Hardeeville’s Br. pp. 19–21. Hardeeville’s argument is incorrect for four reasons.

First, the statutory mandate that all Park Revenues be distributed in accordance with the Park Agreement is not optional. S.C. Code Ann. § 4-1-170(A)(3). Second, counties are expressly given the right to correct future distributions when misallocations are discovered. *Id.* § 4-1-170(B).<sup>12</sup> Third, Hardeeville’s “deference” argument, *see* Hardeeville’s Br. p. 21, is entirely

---

<sup>11</sup> The only limitation on the county’s discretion in allocating park revenues is that each taxing entity within a park “must receive some allocation” of the park revenues. *See* Op. S.C. Att’y Gen., 2022 WL 1606364, at \*4 (May 5, 2022); *but see Horry Cty.*, 346 S.C. at 636, 552 S.E.2d at 745 (Pleicones, J. dissenting) (“In my view, the statutes permit the county to allocate 0% to a taxing entity in the county . . .”).

<sup>12</sup> *Cf.* S.C. Code Ann. § 4-1-170(B); § 4-29-67(L)(4); § 4-12-30(K)(4); § 12-44-80(C).

irrelevant to a local government's past practice—this applies only to an administrative agency's interpretation of its own regulations or the statutes it is charged with enforcing.<sup>13</sup>

Fourth, to the extent Hardeeville is claiming the Jasper Parties are estopped from correcting future distributions, this argument likewise fails. Hardeeville is deemed to have had notice of the tax-exempt status of the Annexed Property at the time of Hardeeville's annexation. Estoppel will only lie against a governmental entity if the asserting party can prove, among other things, "the lack of knowledge and the means of knowledge of the truth of the facts in question." *E.g.*, *S.C. Dep't of Transp. v. Horry Cty.*, 391 S.C. 76, 83, 705 S.E.2d 21, 25 (2011).

The Record shows that the Park Agreement and General Bond Ordinance were properly recorded with Jasper's Clerk of Court's office on April 10, 2000, and May 30, 2001, respectively. Compl. Exs. A–C (R. 00065–00113); Simmons Aff. Exs. 1-A & 1-C (R. 00256–00313). Thus, Hardeeville has not and cannot establish it lacked knowledge. Hardeeville's estoppel argument, therefore, fails as a matter of law. *See S.C. Dep't of Transp.*, 391 S.C. at 84, 705 S.E.2d at 25 (stating that "the deed creating the easement was properly recorded; thus, Appellants had constructive notice of the easement, regardless of their legally unfounded argument that finding the deed in question would be like 'finding a needle in haystack'"); *see also Blinkley v. Rabon Creek Watershed Conservation Dist. of Fountain Inn*, 348 S.C. 58, 74, 558 S.E.2d 902, 910 (Ct. App. 2001) (stating that "mere silence or acquiescence will not operate to work an estoppel where the other party has constructive notice of public records which disclose the true facts").

---

<sup>13</sup> *See, e.g., Kiawah Dev. Partners, II v. S.C. Dep't of Health and Envtl. Control*, 411 S.C. 16, 34, 766 S.E.2d 707, 718 (2014) ("As repeatedly stated in our decisions, our deference doctrine provides that courts defer to an *administrative agency's* interpretations with respect to statutes entrusted to its administration or its own regulations 'unless there is a compelling reason to differ.'") (emphasis added); *cf. Kiawah*, 411 S.C. at 34–35, 766 S.E.2d at 718 ("We defer to an agency interpretation *unless* it is 'arbitrary, capricious, or manifestly contrary to the statute.'") (emphasis added).

Accordingly, Hardeeville’s request to continue collecting *ad valorem* taxes on the Annexed Property into the future without regard to the Park Agreement must be rejected. The trial court’s ruling that all Park Revenues, including those generated from the Annexed Property, must be allocated and distributed in accordance with the Park Agreement must be affirmed.

**II. HARDEEVILLE’S CONSENT TO THE PARK AGREEMENT WAS NOT REQUIRED.**

Hardeeville’s consent to the Park Agreement was not required because Hardeeville did not annex park property until *after* the park was created. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 4-1-170(C). Nevertheless, Hardeeville argues because it did not consent to the Park Agreement, the Annexed Property is not exempt from Hardeeville’s *ad valorem* taxes, and Hardeeville may levy and collect *ad valorem* taxes on that property. *See* Hardeeville’s Br. pp. 22–26. Hardeeville’s argument must be rejected because it directly contradicts the plain language of Section 4-1-170.

A statute must be interpreted according “to its plain and ordinary meaning, and this Court may not resort to subtle or forced construction in an attempt to limit or expand the statute’s scope.” *New York Times Co. v. Spartanburg Cty. Sch. Dist. No. 7*, 374 S.C. 307, 310, 649 S.E.2d 28, 29–30 (2007) (citing *City of Columbia v. Am. Civ. Liberties Union of S.C., Inc.*, 323 S.C. 384, 388, 475 S.E.2d 747, 749 (1996)). “What a legislature says in the text of a statute is considered the best evidence of the legislative intent or will.” *Duke Energy Carolinas, LLC v. S.C. Office of Reg. Staff*, 434 S.C. 392, 434, 864 S.E.2d 873, 895 (2021) (quoting *Hodges v. Rainey*, 341 S.C. 79, 85, 533 S.E.2d 578, 581 (2000)). “Therefore, the courts are bound to give effect to the expressed intent of the legislature.” *Id.* at 434, 864 S.E.2d at 895–96.

Section 4-1-170 states as follows: “If the industrial or business park encompasses all or a portion of a municipality, the counties must obtain the consent of the municipality *prior to the creation of the multi-county industrial park.*” S.C. Code Ann. § 4-1-170(C) (emphasis added). This statute plainly requires counties to obtain a municipality’s consent *only if* a park would encompass

municipal property *at the time the park is created*. If the legislature intended to require counties to obtain municipality consent at any point after the park was created, it would have said so in plain terms exactly as it did concerning municipal property within a park’s boundaries prior to the creation of the park. *See Horry County*, 346 S.C. at 630, 552 S.E.2d at 742; *Duke Energy Carolinas, LLC*, 434 S.C. at 435, 864 S.E.2d at 896.

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